CALIFORNIA STATE UNIVERSITY, NORTHRIDGE

Comprehensive Survey of Machine Learning Applications in Power Systems

A graduate project submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for Master of Science in Electrical Engineering

By

Pejman Azizzadeh

May 2023

The graduate project of Pejman Azizzadeh is approved:

Professor Xiaojun (Ashley) Geng

Date

Professor Ignacio Osorno

Date

Professor Kourosh Sedghisigarchi, Chair

Date

California State University, Northridge

SIGNATURE PAGE	ii
LIST OF TABLES	v
LIST OF FIGURES	vi
ABSTRACT	vii
1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE METHODS	9
2.1 MACHINE LEARNING TECHNIQUES	11
2.2 METAHEURISTIC METHODS	12
2.3 RULE-BASED SYSTEMS	14
3. REVIEW METHODOLOGY	17
4. AI APPLICATIONS TO DISTRIBUTION POWER SYSTEMS	20
4.1 AI IN DISTRIBUTION DECISION SUPPORT	21
4.1-1 DISTRIBUTION NODAL LOADS AND MODE CIRCUIT CONNECTIVITY MODELS	21
4.1-2 STATE ESTIMATION	25
4.1-3 Stability	26
4.1-4 ANALYSIS OF ECONOMIC EFFICIENCY	30
4.2 APPLICATION IN DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM CLOSED-LOOP CONTROL	31
4.2-1 VOLT/VAR/WATT OPTIMIZATION	
4.2-2 FAULT IDENTIFICATION, ISOLATION, AND SERVICE RESTORATION	33

TABLE OF CONTENTS

4.2-3 COORDINATION OF EMERGENCY ACTIONS	34
4.2-4 COORDINATION OF RESTORATIVE ACTIONS	35
4.2-5 LOAD FORECASTING	
4.2-6 STABILITY CONTROL	37
4.2-7 ENERGY MANAGEMENT	
5. OUTLOOK FOR AI IN POWER SYSTEM	40
5.1. EXPLAINABILITY OF AI	40
5.2 DATABASE	40
5.3 . REDUCING COMPUTATIONAL LOADS	41
5.4. SECTOR COUPLING	42
5.5. ANCILLARY SERVICES	43
6. CONCLUSION	44
REFERENCES	45

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Artificial Intelligence Algorithms	16
Table 2. Review of Research Methodology	17
Table 3. Defined Metrics	19
Table 4. AI Applications for decision-support systems	31

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure-1 The number of publications on Al-driven distribution systems	3
Figure-2 The Three Categories of Artificial Intelligence	11
Figure -3 The Three categories of Machine Learning	12
Figure -4 The Two Categories of Metaheuristic Methods	13
Figure-5 The Two Categories of Rule-Based Methods	15
Figure-6 Operations of Distribution Systems	20
Figure -7 Severity for basic requirements needed for modeling distribution modes	22
Figure -8 Severity for basic requirements for power quality analysis	28
Figure -9 Severity for basic requirements for analyzing economic efficiency	30
Figure-10 Severity for basic requirements for power system stabilizer	32
Figure-11 Severity for basic requirements for reactive power and voltage control	33
Figure-12 Severity for basic requirements for fault identification, isolation, and service restoration	34
Figure-13 Severity for basic requirements for coordination of emergency actions	35
Figure-14 Severity for basic requirements for coordinating restorative actions	36

ABSTRACT

Comprehensive Survey of Machine Learning Applications in Power Systems

Ву

Pejman Azizzadeh

Master of Science in Electrical Engineering

This project presents a comprehensive survey of artificial intelligence in electric power system applications. It summarizes a general view of artificial intelligence in power systems in five chapters. The first chapter of This survey paper seeks to contribute to the literature by expanding on the existing research that has been published. A systematic review of the literature summarizes the practical applications of artificial intelligence to improve power systems in different areas such as control, security, distributed energy systems, control of load flow, and detecting faults. The second chapter is based on recent studies and research on artificial intelligence methods. It explains three critical categories of artificial intelligence: rule-based systems, machine learning techniques, and metaheuristic methods. The third chapter consists of the methodology for the literature review. It provides the databases that were used to search for the sources, as well as the screening procedure, time period for the search, and search string. Chapter four describes Artificial intelligence applications. Finally, chapter five elaborates on the outlook for artificial intelligence in the power system.

1. INTRODUCTION

Modern society has developed a strong dependency on electrical energy. This dependency creates an important demand for ensuring that power system operators are functioning reliably to ensure that there is a readily available supply of electrical energy. However, energy transitions have presented challenges pertaining to the stability for maintaining energy grid operations. Given these challenges, there is a demand for system operators to identify solutions for maintaining a stable grid so that a reliable source of energy can be readily supplied. These solutions focus on ensuring that there is adequate energy supply available when deviating away from non-renewable energy sources through the adoption of carbon-neutral systems.

Given these challenges, numerous government agencies around the world are seeking to implement environmental solutions by working alongside grid operators. These government agencies are focused on integrating renewable energy from offshore sources. This is a strategy that the members of the European Commission have implemented. For example, the German government has implemented a strategy of optimizing its existing energy grid structures in an effort to reduce energy reserves, while also accelerating the development of new power lines. In addition to these conventional strategies for improving the efficiency of power system operations, there are also data-driven strategies that can be incorporated. One of these strategies is the use of artificial intelligence to manage power systems operations using computational power. The literature provides data analysis from artificial intelligence measurement systems that utilize computational power to analyze data in real time. These research studies have led to interest in conducting additional research about the practical applications of artificial intelligence for improving the operational efficiency of distribution power systems. Online databases were used to collect and analyze data from the growing number of research studies published on artificial intelligence using data-driven systems to manage distribution power systems. The three online databases that were examined include Wiley's, IEEE, and Elsevier. The change in the number of monthly publications on Al-driven distribution systems is plotted in Figure 1 below. The figure demonstrates that there has been a 40% increase in the number of research studies published on the topic of artificial intelligence applications to power systems from the year 2016 to 2021.

The literature investigates the different applications that AI provides to power systems. For example, Zhao et. al discusses how artificial intelligence has applications to the three phases of the power electronics life cycle. These three phases include the design, control, and maintenance. The authors address the potential applications of AI in the management of electronic systems (AI). At least one activity can be handled by artificial intelligence in each stage of the design, control, and maintenance phases.

[2]



Figure 1. The number of publications on AI-driven distribution systems

These activities include optimization, categorization, regression, and data structure analysis. This article covers a wide range of artificial intelligence (AI) models, including but not limited to expert systems, fuzzy logic, met heuristic approaches, and machine learning, along with the applications of each model. More than five hundred publications were reviewed to determine the current state of public awareness, the difficulties associated with implementing AI, and the potential research issues. Alongside this article, you will find a link to a downloadable Excel sheet that contains a compilation of helpful materials on statistical analysis. This article goes into the many forms of AI that are now being implemented in electrical power systems. The following outlines some recent discoveries. Design, control, and maintenance of power electronic systems are the three primary applications of artificial intelligence that are now being explored. At each stage of the life cycle of the technology, researchers investigate the adoption rate of (AI) artificial intelligence its

application pattern, features, and resource requirements. Expert systems, fuzzy logic, met heuristic techniques, and machine learning is the categories that can be used to categorize the artificial intelligence approaches implemented in power electronic systems nowadays. Comparisons between the suitable AI algorithms for each domain regarding their application patterns, advantages and disadvantages, and upper and lower bounds are made. Most software associated with AI is geared toward recognizing, categorizing, and improving data structures. By employing a chronology, we can examine the development of the most significant algorithms and the many applications to which they have been put. In addition to illustrative examples for every step of the life cycle, this article discusses the difficulties that need to be overcome and suggests future research fields. [1]. In a separate research study, Monti et. al investigates the different ways that distributed intelligence systems can control smart energy grids. This study presents a description of the issues, potential solutions, and recent breakthroughs in power distribution control that arise from multiple sources. These challenges have been identified as having several different origins. In the not-too-distant future, a considerable adjustment will be made to the electricity networks' organizational structure. There is not much space for debate on whether this will have the most substantial impact on distribution. This tutorial looks at the current state of affairs and explains how the grid might one day develop into something more intelligent and adaptable. To a significant extent, this idea depends on a varied collection of decentralized and renewable power plants. In the following sections, various subjects, including network-based control, distributed state estimation, and distributed intelligence, are broken down and examined in light of recent discoveries. The instruction explained that the electrical grid is in a state of constant change and that it is dynamic.

As a consequence of these shifts, it is more essential than ever to research new methods for the automation of the electrical system. Using this case study as an example, the authors focused on three critical areas: network-based control, distributed intelligent systems, and distributed state estimation. Each of these issues contains reports that provide a synopsis of the most recent findings from research on a range of specialized subjects [2]. A third example is Omitaomu's survey research that investigates the security risks and operational challenges to consider when relying on Al-driven smart grids [3].

The literature also includes research studies that investigate the specific applications of AI-driven power systems. Cao et. al applies deep reinforcement learning as a means of solving challenging problems for the use of current power systems [4]. Glavic et. al also investigates how reinforcement learning can be used to improve the control and decisions made by power systems [5]. Another topic investigated by Sun et. al is the opportunities and challenges for using voltage control [6]. Similarly, Aldhelou et. al investigate the opportunities and challenges for the integration of artificial intelligence to improve the control of load flow. The paper concludes with a section that discusses current and future research requirements and emerging research trends in LFC. The article discusses the present situation of load frequency regulation in power networks worldwide. Because of this, all mathematical models of frequency response for traditional and intelligent power systems are subjected to substantial research. There are various innovative system models; examples are distributed generation, microgrids, smart grids, and modern power systems that use multiple renewable energy sources. In addition, both traditional and adaptive control strategies are thoroughly examined in this study. Studies also study cutting-edge control strategies for load frequency management in power systems, such as optimum control theory,

resilient control, and a control strategy based on soft computing. These theories and strategies include optimum control and robust control. In conclusion, we look at a few unanswered questions and some future avenues of investigation for load frequency control systems [7].

Darab et. al and Chai et. al have also contributed to the applications of artificial intelligence in smart grids by investigating the different methods that can be applied for detecting faults and making diagnoses for power systems [8]. Kumar et. al also investigates the use of emerging techniques to integrate resources of distributed energy systems to improve smart grids. Following this, they covered the benefits and drawbacks of utilizing AI approaches and their basic principles, characteristics, and practical implementations within the realm of power grid FD. They discussed how artificial intelligence (AI) may be utilized shortly to identify and fix faults in the nation's electrical grid. This step is intended to encourage future research in the field, as mentioned above. Some minor adjustments have been made to the Grid FD approach that is dependent on AI. This research suggested several different artificial intelligence methodologies for locating issues with electricity grids. The authors examined the positive and negative aspects of the currently available AI power grid FD techniques. This study estimates the future of AIpowered power grid FD in light of recent breakthroughs in AI technology (like AlphaGo) and the significant emphasis given to AI research and deep learning. At this point, most power grid FD techniques based on artificial intelligence (AI) are still in the experimental phase. On the other hand, because of the speedy advancement of AI technology, brand-new AI-based power system FD solutions are anticipated to be produced and put into action in the future [9]. Cai & Lu also investigate the applications of metaheuristic algorithms to improve power systems [10].

The objective of this survey paper is to provide a systematic review of the existing applications that artificial intelligence provides to distribution power systems while also discussing the potential concerns for their practical applications. These findings are summarized based on the following:

The systematic review of the literature discusses the practical applications of artificial intelligence systems to improve the operations of distribution power systems. The systematic review also includes an analysis of the requirements needed for artificial intelligence to provide applications to distribution systems while also discussing the key functions of artificial intelligence when applied to distribution power systems. Based on the analyzed data from the literature, the four key metrics to consider are the dynamics, adaptability, dataset, and runtime of artificial intelligence systems. In this survey paper, each of these four metrics is evaluated based on a 5-point Likert scale. The metrics are rated from their practical applications derived from analyzing the selected research studies.

A set of guidelines is created to outline the techniques for different artificial intelligence applications. These guidelines are derived from a performance analysis that considers the effectiveness of AI tools in creating AI solutions.

The structure of this survey paper begins with Section II, which includes a brief overview of commonly used artificial intelligence techniques. This includes a discussion of the concepts of machine learning, fuzzy logic, metaheuristic, and the control phase. Section III includes literature review that analyzes the research methodologies of the selected studies, and introduces the four metrics used to evaluate these studies. Section IV includes a discussion of the practical

[7]

applications of artificial intelligence techniques to improve power system operations. Section IV is broken down into two sections that discuss closed-loop and decision-support systems. Section IV concludes with the guidelines for selecting suitable artificial intelligence techniques for each application to distributed power systems. Section V discusses the future outlook of artificial intelligence for improving distributed power systems. Section V also provides a brief overview of the key concepts applicable to artificial intelligence. Lastly, Section VI provides a summary for the key contributions of this survey paper to the literature. This survey paper aims to provide an overview of systematic research studies in order to provide guidelines for choosing artificial intelligence algorithms to enhance the operational efficiency of distribution power systems.

2. ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE METHODS

The literature has provided an extensive discussion of artificial intelligence. In the 1940s, Turing introduced the definition of artificial intelligence [11]. However, recent research studies demonstrate disagreements about the definition of artificial intelligence. Despite these disagreements, there is a consensus that artificial intelligence consists of information processing systems that influence an environment through an ability to learn and adapt. The next part lays out four criteria for a good working definition, including how basic it should be, how it should reference relevant research, and how it should have a clear limit. These criteria are used to assess general field definitions. Adapting with limited information and tools is the essence of intelligence. Comparisons are made between this meaning and another to show how the effects of this term vary. The goal of this concept is to offer a solid foundation for the profession while resolving several problems. The concept of "Intelligence" within the field of artificial intelligence requires more study than has been conducted so far. Different scenarios necessitate different research paths; therefore, a working definition is crucial. Today's AI is a synthesis of many multiple areas of study, each with its theoretical underpinnings, practical applications, and other defining characteristics. The term "AI," is used to describe them all, but not in a theoretical sense. Losing all of these under the umbrella term "AI." is a mistake, although there are certain commonalities between them. One does not need a theoretical background to use this strategy effectively. Questions about artificial intelligence (AI) are not immediately apparent. When asked, "How to build AI" and "Is AI useful?" Because so many different kinds of AI can have such different outcomes, the question requires a definition of AI. It is essential to distinguish between systems whose knowledge, including moral and ethical understanding, is entirely predetermined in their design and development (their nature) and those whose knowledge is primarily derived from their own experience once they start operating when discussing the security of artificial intelligence (its nurture). Each type of AI requires its own unique set of guidelines. It is argued from this perspective that the theoretical and practical repercussions of any definition of AI render it impossible to arrive at a single, operationally valid definition. To paraphrase the article's requirements, not all workplace definitions are created equal. Although there is no agreed-upon definition (and I seriously doubt there ever will be), it is nonetheless essential to acknowledge the diverse perspectives. When results are published, researchers should note any AI's role, but ultimately, it is up to the individual researcher to decide if and how AI is used. Many researchers find helpful information, but it may not be exactly what they want. However, the same theories and methodologies were used to address problems that had nothing to do with AI. One factor contributing to this is people's ignorance of the assumptions used in AI programs. Each research topic may be given its name in the future for the sake of the organization when an accurate definition of AI has been made. We can define AI and figure out its limits before that occurs. People who "don't much care" where they are headed can get there if they walk far enough no need to start over [12]. Basic components of artificial intelligence techniques are demonstrated from different applications in this paper. Figure 2 outlines the three key categories of artificial intelligence, which are rule-based systems, machine learning techniques, and metaheuristic methods. Standard algorithms are commonly modified, but are classified as a single category.



Figure 2. The Three Categories of Artificial Intelligence

2.1 Machine Learning Techniques

Machine learning is a technique that is commonly used in contemporary research studies. Machine learning can be classified into three categories: reinforcement learning, unsupervised, and supervised. These three categories are outlined in Figure 3 below. The supervised learning technique consists of a dataset with input and output data for mapping strategy. This includes neural networks that have applications for training and validating networks. The training process consists of an optimizer that minimizes the error function based on distance measurement between target values and output value for the dataset. Regular neural networks utilize supervised learning and convolutional neural networks that provide an added filter layer to data inputs [13]. Unsupervised learning doesn't include target values in the dataset, which consists of a training process where learning algorithms are used to identify the target value. The methods used for unsupervised learning are the Support Vector Machine (SVM) and k-means clustering algorithm. These two methods provide applications for detecting anomalies and classifying images. The performance of the detection systems was analyzed using ROC charts, which take a comprehensive look at how well the systems function across all thresholds. Establishing a localized threshold requires extensive work but is essential [14]. Another learning technique to consider is reinforcement learning, which relies on agent-based methods for learning a specific action strategy. In this case, the agent must choose the action for specific situations, which yields a reward for performing the action. This creates a utility function that provides an approximated value for the specific action. However, reinforcement learning helps us to understand our environment and find better solutions to problems [15].



Figure 3. The Three Categories of Machine Learning

2.2 METAHEURISTIC METHODS

Metaheuristic methods consist of groups of algorithms that are used to solve optimization problems. The algorithms commonly find hyperparameters for controllers and models. There are two subgroups of algorithms that include population-based and trajectory-based methods known as swarm intelligence. Figure 4 provides an outline of the process for these two methods.



Figure 4. The Two Categories of Metaheuristic Methods

The Particle Swarm Optimization (PSO) is the most popular population-based method. The PSO method was created by Kennedy and Eberhart in 1995, and developments have resulted in improved versions. The basic PSO version relies on swarms of particles that has an initial velocity and position relative to a search field. The PSO functions to find a global optimum with particles determining the best individual and global positions [16]. The fruit fly algorithm is also a popular

metaheuristic optimization algorithm. When compared to PSO, the fruit fly algorithm is limited to building geometrical representations [17]. Ant colony optimization is an alternative method that mimics the foraging behaviors of ant colonies. The ant colony optimization algorithm was created in the 1990s with the purpose of solving complex problems in a relatively short time. There is also the Genetic algorithm, which follows the process of natural evolution. In the Genetic algorithm, the fittest individuals are selected for genes to be passed down to the next generation [18]. The differential evolutionary optimization model follows this concept of the survival of the fittest [19]. There is also the immune algorithm that is derived from the genetic algorithm. The immune algorithm consists of an immune operator that is developed based on the selection of vaccination and immunity [20]. Another popular metaheuristic algorithm is the Tabu search method, which provides guidance for local heuristics processes to identify global solutions. The Tabu search method process consists of adaptive memory and exploring responsive mechanisms [21]. There is also simulated annealing that integrates the physical properties of solid materials during their cool-down phase after they have been annealed by solving optimization problems [22].

2.3 RULE-BASED SYSTEMS

The third category of artificial intelligence are rule-based systems that consist of groups of AI techniques that work together to integrate human knowledge. These rule-based systems operate based on a set of "if-then" rules, which enables the system to make decisions based on the rules implemented by the developer. As a result, the rule-based system is perceived as a modularized

version of "know-how" systems [23]. In several other research studies, rule-based systems are described as expert systems. As shown in Figure 5, these rule-based systems rely on processes such as Boolean logic, control, and fuzzy logic.



Figure 5. The Two Categories of Rule-Based Methods

The key advantage of utilizing logic and fuzzy theory is that variables can be described in relation to human language. The fuzzy system consists of three key elements. The first is fuzzification, which provides input signals that are mapped into a function of fuzzy membership based on membership degrees. These functions can take on different shapes, such as Gaussian, trapezoidal, and triangular. The second is the inference model, which consists of calculating the degrees of memberships that are integrated into the code of fuzzy rules based on "if-then" processes. These fuzzy rules have to be developed by experts that are knowledgeable about the processes. The third element is defuzzification, which consists of creating an output signal tied to a physical system [24]. Based on these three elements, there are different types of combinations and categories that can be created [25]. Some of these techniques don't have to be tied to a single category, and can be grouped into multiple categories at once. In summary,

this chapter has introduced artificial intelligence techniques, as well as an outline of the advantages and limitations for grouping these techniques. These findings have been summarized in Table 1 along with a discussion of applications.

Algorithm	Advantages	Limitations	Applications
Metaheuristic (Population based)	global convergence	convergence speed	Improve PSO algorithm
Metaheuristic (trajectory based)	Implementation simplicity	parallel capability	improved objective function and genetic algorithm
Fuzzy Systems	Integration of expert knowledge	elaborate design of rules	Based on fuzzy set theory
Supervised learning	runtime after training	large dataset	small signal stability using artificial neural networks
Unsupervised learning	no label data	time of training	low voltage distribution network based on fuzzy C- means clustering algorithm
Reinforcement learning	no dataset needed, learn interaction of system	adaptation can be time consuming	double deep Q-learning networks approach

3. REVIEW METHODOLOGY

This chapter consists of the methodology for the literature review. Table 2 provides a list

of the databases that were used to search for the sources, as well as the screening procedure,

time period for the search, and search string.

search index	content
data	Google scholar, IEEE Xplore, Sciencedirect, MDPI, Wileys (IET)
Search String	Each technique/Methodology and app e.g. Neutral network state, distribution system and AI
Search Time	2010-2021
Procedure	Relevant Judge by abstract, introduction and conclusion

Table 2. Review of Research Methodology

The studies have been classified based on their applications to distribution systems. General metrics have been established and defined to provide clarification for artificial intelligence and distribution grid operation designs. This provides a process for reviewing each research study based on clearly defined metrics to provide a basis for AI guidelines. The metrics demonstrate the importance of the requirements for each AI application. The metrics are rated from a Likert scale between a score of 0 to 5. A score of 0 corresponds to a low rating for the severity of the requirements, whereas a score of 5 corresponds to a high rating. After reviewing each of the

research studies, a rating was provided for each of the metrics. Based on these results, the requirements are discussed to define AI approaches.

At the conclusion of reviewing these research studies, general guidelines have been established to demonstrate their applications to different methods. These methods are discussed in chapter 2 based on their applications. The outcomes are demonstrated in a table that summarizes the general rating based on the review of the literature and corresponding metrics. The metrics are described in further detail:

Dataset: Most research studies are data-based approaches, and the database are presented along with the required measurements.

Runtime: The AI approaches have a runtime and operating timescale, as well as practical applications that are reviewed based on their applications to real-time operations.

Dynamic: Some AI applications consider system dynamics to be mandatory for efficient operations.

Adaptability: Effort is provided to adapt the research designs to new situations, which include training time. This leads to a strong correlation between large datasets and long training times.

Table 3 provides a list of the times needed for adaptability based on rating, dataset, runtime, dynamic, and adaptability. In Table 3, rating provided to metrics are clearly defined. The reviewed papers are evaluated using a quantitative evaluation system with defined ranges to evaluate adaptability, runtime, and dataset. These values are then classified into 5 groups with defined outer limits.

Rate	Data	Runtime	Dynamic	Adaptability
0	1-10 samples	2h-24h		millisec-sec
1	10-10 ² samples	30m-2h	min to hr	sec-min
2	10^2-10^3 samples	1m-30m	sec to min	min
3	10^3-10 ^4 samples	10s-1m	10^-2s-10s	min-hr
4	10^4-10^5 samples	10^-2s-10s	10^-6s-10^-3s	hr-day
5	10^5-10^6 samples	10^-9s-10^-3s	10^-9s-10^-6s	day-week

Table 3. Defined Metrics

4. AI APPLICATIONS TO DISTRIBUTION POWER SYSTEMS

There are two types of distribution grid operations that are demonstrated in Figure 6. The left side of Figure 6 demonstrates the process of decision support systems that rely on measurements to visually represent different situations into the grid. The operator is capable of manually controlling the actions in this case. In this paper, the decision support system functions through an open-loop control process that is not fully automatic.

On the right of Figure 6, the closed-loop system functions through an automated process. This automated process is completely self-reliant without a need for humans to interact with the system. The closed-loop system in Figure 6 includes a grid and control. Visualization from the decision support system plays a role in checking to ensure that the control is functioning effectively without human intervention.



Figure 6. Operations of Distribution Systems

The literature demonstrates that there are varying degrees of automated processes for managing distribution grids. However, these distribution grids are commonly run by decisions from manual operators. Section A demonstrates some of the common applications for artificial intelligence to decision support systems. Section B provides an investigation of these applications to a closed-loop control system. However, it is important to note that not all the reviewed research designs were designed for distribution systems, but these designs are still discussed because they are applicable to distribution systems.

Recent research studies have investigated the use of frequency ancillary services to improve the connectivity of distribution generation in distribution systems [26]. Fast generation changes influence the investigation of fast generation grids. There is a need for investigating the impact of fast generation changes to improve distribution grids. Assessing the frequency leads to improving the interest of future grids. One of the areas of interest is to examine how the dynamics of distribution systems change based on modifications to distributed generation [27]. Tasks also need to be considered for their applications to distribution system operations. However, these tasks are primarily used for modern transmission systems.

4.1 AI in Distribution Decision Support

4.1-1 Distribution nodal loads and mode circuit connectivity models

Digital twin concepts have been applied for modeling distributional nodal loads using lower time periods. Digital twin is growing in popularity in research studies given its rapid growth in AI distribution systems [28]. The digital twin provides a digital representation for physical systems where state and behavior can be changed based on measurements and parameter information. The digital twin concept is primarily used in manufacturing processes, but there has been growing interest for using digital twin as applications for power systems. Some of the applications of digital twin in power systems is monitoring, control, maintenance, and design for power plants [29]. Figure 7 demonstrates the basic requirements for establishing circuit connection and nodal loads for power system operations. The process speed and accuracy are needed to demonstrate the system's behavior in other states. The process speed and accuracy also play a role in providing a representation of system behaviors in all the system's possible stages. This requires a broad dataset with multiple situations.



Figure 7. Severity for basic requirements needed for modeling distribution modes

The model extracts data related to the system's be heavier to determine how to provide an adaptive response to different types of operational scenarios. This leads to high adaptability with the digital twin approach that includes an ability to change behaviors while online and estimate dynamic parameters. AI techniques build digital twins to provide a range of applications.[30] demonstrates how the digital twin can be used to provide an online grid analysis. In this application, the digital

twin consists of a virtual model that includes a bus, nose, breakers, and branch model that can be updated using state estimation and SCADA data. Any changes that are detected in the model results in the engine conducting a situation awareness analysis in which data is fed into a machine learning system. A neural network conducts an online security assessment, which can be conducted in an online environment. Field tests have been conducted and reveal that the computational time required for the entire process is 300 ms or less.

[31] recommends using the digital twin to conduct power flow calculations for artificial neural networks. This neural network includes P and Q as grid inputs and complex voltage as outputs. Also, designed a 9-bus system using 9,600 samples in MATPOWER to train and test the system. An operator is needed to monitor power flow within power systems using real-time operational data. This can be used to perform a series of conventional flow calculations to create a mode of the system. [32] recommends using a linear first-order load model to compute power flow calculations in a parameter fitting algorithm known as Powerfit. Linear models are used to provide convergence to power flow algorithms that search for any cut points in datasets. This can be used to detect drastic changes in load data in which load parameters can be adapted to new situations.

[33] recommends using a two-stage approach to create a load model that provides a dynamic load response using the Western Electricity Coordinating Council Composite Load Model (WECC). Each of these load components provide a different aggregate for load components. A Double deep Q-learning Network (DDQN) learning agent is used to investigate the load composition for each bus during the first stage. I'm the second stage, Monte Carlo simulations are used to identify parameter sets. DSATools and TSAT are used to create training concepts based on the 39-bus grid. [34] proposes the use of LSTM to estimate parameters based on the

[23]

ZIP model. This is useful for extracting measurements related to the temporal relationship between the target bus and load model parameters.

[35] proposes a digital twin approach to identify load dynamics by combining identification methods for systems and their corresponding neural networks. It is possible to optimally utilize DERs and EVs, as well as topology identification systems to improve calculations for the system's structure and parameters.

[34] recommends using a neural network structure with binary classifieds to conduct online identification. The network can be trained using inputs from measurements, such as PMUs. This problem-solving approach is binary because the neural network output can either have a value of 1 or 0. A value of 1 corresponds to connected and a value of 0 corresponds to not connected. recommends using deep neural networks as an alternative approach for conducting topology identification. The deep neural networks include using DER management systems to conduct measurements. [36] suggests that fuzzy e-means clustering can be used to check LV distribution grid topologies with smart meter data collecting individual household data for correlation analysis. The collected data is then compared using a GIS system to determine if a user is located using the correct transformer area based on the fuzzy e-means algorithm.

4.1-2 State Estimation

The growing increase in distributed generation has led to more emphasis on controllability and measurability for distribution grids. Operation grids experience changes to their operation practices, which causes the ability to estimate the grid states to be important for grid modeling and control. Conventional approaches are difficult to implement because ere is undermined measurement sets and topology information that is missing. AI techniques are more effective because they can extract data in real time. Figure 8 provides a visual depiction of how AI techniques can be used to perform state estimation. According to figure 8, state estimation relies on large datasets that are highly adaptable to changes in system states.



Figure 8. Severity for basic requirements for state estimation

[37] recommends using a machine learning with physics methods to create a hybrid model that improves the ability to explain data-driven models. This includes a temporal relationship between states to achieve improvements to state estimation. This considers factors such as the system's dynamics. The Deep Neural Network model incorporates LSTMs with measurements for time steps from the present and past. The system's state is estimated based on this data and provided to an AC power flow model that provides the system with physical parameters.

[38] offers an alternative approach for incorporating physical structures into neural networks. This approach consists of graphing a structure based on the electrical grid, and copying it into a neural network. This approach is effective in reducing the complexity and training ability of network parameters.[39] demonstrates a deep learning-based framework that provides real-time distribution for state estimation based on machine learning methods. This deep learning-based framework includes an offline component that trains DNN and online component that copies the offline DNN. Smart meter data is used to facilitate the offline learning process, and this data is then injected into Gaussian and Weibull models. With this process, bad data can be detected by identifying the differences between learned distribution parameters and measurements. [40] proposes that forecasting systems should be added to improve state estimation in real time. This can be achieved by implementing two DNNs systems. The first DNNs system is used to conduct estimations and the second is used to conduct predictions.

4.1-3 Stability

One of the important aspects of power system operations is analyzing the stability of power systems. This subject presents several research studies that apply AI techniques to conduct stability assessment tasks for distribution system operations because of their capability to effectively acquire nonlinear data from dynamic systems with short runtimes.[41] reveals that these AI techniques are commonly applied to provide frequency stability in transmission system operators.[42] states that when generation transitions to distribution systems, the generators' non-frequency and frequency ancillary services play a role in connecting to the distribution system.

Figure 9 demonstrates how a model can be used to detect stability in dynamic systems. The model requires a large dataset and fast runtime based on rapid changes to the stability of the system. However, this model doesn't work well for dynamic systems striving to achieve long-term voltage stability. This is because achieving voltage stability is challenging because the time behavior fluctuates.[43] Suggests utilizing a method of data analysis that is self-adaptive with a hierarchy for assessing short-term voltage stability. In this model, PMU measurements are taken to evaluate whether there is stability in the propagation of voltage. When a stable status is

[26]

detected, the Fault-Induced Voltage Delayed Recovery (FIDVR) and root-mean-squared voltage severity dip (RVSI) is used to predict voltage recovery performance. This results in an assessment system based on a hierarchy. In this hierarchal model, the first tier in the hierarchy detects a stable point in the dynamic system, which then activates the second tier in the hierarchy. This creates a regression model that can be used to solve complex machine learning processes. ELMs are aggregated separately in each stage of the model, but performance validation is aggregated following the training step. This creates an optimization problem used to evaluate the accuracy and timeliness of the dynamic system. For the model used in this paper, the date was generated by measuring pre-fault conditions for the 39 buses in the New England bus system. The data generation process consists of 10,000 Monte Carlo simulations that contribute 700 MW to loads and wind power plants. The simulations are carried out using Transient Stability Assessment Tools (TSAT) using 0.01 seconds for the step size. The ReliefF algorithm is used to select different features for the simulation [44].



Figure 8. Severity for basic requirements for power quality analysis.

[45] offer a similar strategy that consists of a two-stage system for conducting voltage stability assessment. The first stage consists of detecting the stability of the system. The second stage focuses on making an accurate prediction about the trajectory of the system based on the stability assessment results. [46] recommend using a Support Vector Machine (SVM) to assess the voltage stability of the power system based on PMU measurements. There are two key optimization goals for the processing of measurement data. The first is to determine the SVM misclassification rate. The second is to use the nonlinear relationship between data measurements and voltage stability to reduce the number of SVM input features. This leads to increasing the accuracy of predictions, while also focusing on reducing the processing time needed to make these predictions.

A biogeography-based optimization algorithm (BBO) is used to process the dataset, which is known as an evolutionary optimization algorithm. In the first simulation conducted on the New England 39 bus system, the database is created by measuring load patterns from 506 pre-fault operation conditions. This leads to checking the stability for power flow convergence. The PMUs are used to calculate the angles of voltage phases, squared voltages, line currents, the flow of reactive power, and fault location. Iran's 66 bus power grid is then used to carry out additional tests. A total of 26 operation conditions were established across 15 days of collected load data. There are 24 PMUs positioned throughout the power grid.

The operations of power systems must also consider transient stability. The short timescales of detection algorithms make them suitable for achieving transient stability. [47] suggests that a transient stability is conducted by using PMU data with different ratios of signals to noise. Stacked autoencoders (SAE) are used to extract features, and convolutional neural networks (CNN) are used to carry out representational learning in order to filter noise. This process

[28]

occurs with offline training by using historical data. CNN relies on unsupervised learning to facilitate its features and supervised learning to provide the classification of data. PMUs rely on real-time data to perform online operations for conducting transient stability analysis. In this case, the simulation database is generated from the 39 New England bus system grid and a PSD-BPA software that conducts calculations for power flow for different load levels. Using SNR, a total of 4,000 data samples were collected. [48] recommends the use of ML systems to indirectly perform PCA to reduce input dimensions when conducting stability assessments. This approach leads to only retaining necessary data points. This approach is more effective then direct PCA, which reduces data points with a cutoff set by lowest eigenvalues. The process of direct PCA is ineffective because the reduction of low eigenvalues doesn't necessarily lead to stability assessment in power systems. The indirect PCA is utilized to calculate the difference between stable and unstable dimension projections after acquiring the data values needed as inputs. In its application to the New England 39 bus system, datasets are created using Monte Carlo simulations for bus voltage and power generation with 165 measurements (i.e. branch power flows).

4.1-4 Analysis of economic efficiency

It is important to consider the economic aspect of distribution systems for optimal generation. [49] demonstrates how the economics of optimal generation are significant in DOMA, as well as other optimization goals for power systems. One of the traditional problems is economic dispatch, which focuses on minimizing costs. One of the other top goals is to reduce carbon emissions. A cost function can be generated to incorporate each of these

[29]

optimization goals [50]. Figure 10 demonstrates that this cost function has problem variables that undergo slow changes, which enables the power system to achieve optimization without needing adaptability or fast runtimes. This is demonstrated in Figure 10, this cost function still requires enough data to achieve desired optimization levels.



Figure 9. Severity for basic requirements for analyzing economic efficiency

Decision-support systems require models of online adaptability and analysis to achieve longterm applications for power systems as they undergo permanent changes. As a result, the model requires training and adaptation to be conducted routinely, which requires datasets and updated system data. Given these requirements and usage statistics, applied AI methods require suitable algorithms for each application, which are outlined in Table 4.

Applications	Algorithms					
	Metaheuristic (population	Metaheuristic (trajectory	Fuzzy systems	Supervised learning	Unsupervised learning	Reinforcement learning
	based method)	based method)				
Modeling of distribution nodal loads	-	+-	+-	++	+-	+-
Circuit connectivity and power flow	+-	+-	+-	++	++	+-
Analysis of Economic Efficiency	++	+-	-	+-	-	++
State estimation	+-	+-	+-	++	-	++
Power quality analysis	++	+-	+-	++	++	+-

++: convenient; +-: feasible; -: constrained

Table 4. AI Applications for decision-support systems.

4.2 Application in distribution system closed-loop control

4.2-1 VOLT/VAR/WATT Optimization

The oscillations of low voltage systems are caused by transmission system operators with more than one voltage regulator. However, inverter-based generation with a connection to distribution grids using voltage-controlled mode offers improvements to the operators of distribution grids. Integrating voltage regulators that are continuously acting leads to the most conventional outcome for generation units that improve the steady-state stability for power systems. However, additional controls are needed because there are dangers with using a system that has small magnitude oscillations and low frequency. [51] developed a supplementary excitation control called a power system stabilizer that is designed to achieve synchronous generation. Figure 11 demonstrates how the controller runtime must be fast to provide a reaction for system's dynamic behavior. Figure 11 demonstrates that the optimization for controller parameters can be significantly slower since they don't have to occur in real time. [52] recommends the use of Neuro-Fuzzy controller (NFC) to replace traditional PSS and coordinated multi-power system stabilizers. This allows the power system to achieve stability by reducing low frequency oscillations.



Figure 10. Severity for basic requirements for power system stabilizer.

In the next part, the distribution systems' reactive power and voltage control are briefly discussed. This includes providing an overview and analysis of the challenges associated with voltage control for smart grids. Some of the recent approaches that researchers are taking will be discussed. Figure 12 demonstrates the large and comprehensive dataset that power systems require to manage multiple generation and load situations. According to Figure 12, voltage control is dependent on high adaptability and short runtime.



Figure 11. Severity for basic requirements for reactive power and voltage control.

4.2-2 Fault identification, isolation, and service restoration

Another crucial aspect for the operation of power systems is to detect and diagnose faults. This includes the detection of anomalies and losses for different short circuited other threats to consider are cyberattacks or communication outages that can result in power outages. Figure 13 demonstrates that detection of faults and anomalies are dependent on providing accurate models for system dynamics. Additionally, a fast runtime is required because systems are rapidly changing their system states. As a result, the adaptability of the system is important for being able to respond to different types of typologies [53].



[33]

Figure 12 Severity for basic requirements for fault identification, isolation and service restoration.

4.2-3 Coordination of emergency actions

The coordination of emergency actions is important when the distribution grid is experiencing a critical mode. One of the potential emergency responses is to shed the loads in the event of a frequency drop. However, the low frequency of load shedding relays information that results in the disconnection of loads once a threshold is reached. Power systems are complex with dynamic behaviors, which makes it challenging to determine an optimal load shedding strategy. Figure 14 demonstrates a proposed algorithm that is adaptable without being dependent on a large dataset. The main purpose of this action is to reduce the time for the procedure of recovery and make the system stable in a shorter time. Also, it reduces the damages and help the system work more stable [54], [55].



Figure 13. Severity for basic requirements for coordination of emergency actions.

4.2-4 Coordination of restorative actions

Distribution operators play an important role in providing restorative actions for blackouts because generation is becoming increasingly connected to distribution systems. [56]and [57] present ways that distributed generation can be incorporated into the restoration strategy of distributed power systems. [58] and [59] offer ways to incorporate energy storage for achieving these restorative actions. One of the proposed recommendations is to utilize EVs. Figure 15 demonstrates that blackouts can result in different types of outcomes following the emergency, which creates a need for adaptable approaches that can be readily applied to different types of situations. [60] recommends the use of multi-agent systems that provide a restorative distribution grid. In this model, two agent classes are considered: load and distribution substation agents. Load agents focus on the restoration of loads to provide energy and guidance to neighboring loads. The distribution substation agent monitors the flow of substation power and holds the load agents accountable.



Figure 14. Severity for basic requirements for coordinating restorative actions.

Power systems are dynamic and change when the inverter-coupled participants are integrated [61]. This results in interactions across multiple controllers that lead to different optimization goals and runtimes. As a result, AI-based controllers must be further investigated

4.2.5 Load Forecasting

Forecasting is the process of estimating a variable's (or set of variables') value at a future time point. One of the main areas of electrical engineering research now is the forecasting of electricity demand. Artificial intelligence techniques have been the subject of extensive research in recent years when it comes to the load forecasting issue. Some artificial intelligence (AI) techniques used for load forecasting include expert systems, fuzzy, genetic algorithms, and artificial neural networks (ANN). In distributed systems, smart grid and buildings, next-day load demands, as well as autoregressive Artificial intelligence-based techniques such as ANN with exogenous vector inputs have been used for load forecasting. Because it does not require complex mathematical formulations, ANN has many applications in the areas of curve fitting, data mining, load forecasting, controls, system identification, and so on. The research, on the other hand, reveals two things. Electrical load forecasting and power system protection are two key applications of ANN in the context of the power system. ANN outperforms other forecasting methods in applications where non-linear relationships exist because of its ability to adapt to them. As a result, the use of artificial intelligence in load forecasting facilitates integration. of load switching, contract evaluation, energy generation and purchase, and infrastructure development. Additionally, it helps with precise load prediction, which is one of the key signs of power intelligence. Considering inputs based on loads, weather-related data, day type, and time of day is also beneficial. By maintaining current forecasting areas, this in turn helps to achieve a systematic approach to managing electric distribution. In the 1990s, load forecasting was widely acknowledged as an effective use of ANNs, but in the decade that followed, the field made little progress in terms of methodological innovation and enhancements to model accuracy and usability. While this was going on, other fields, like mathematical programming and computer

vision, made significant methodological and practical advancements. In contrast to those thriving fields, the load forecasting literature from the 1990s to 2000s made slow progress for a number of reasons. Before the 2010s, benchmarking data and models were absent from the load forecasting literature, and many load forecasting papers lacked reproducibility. Therefore, artificial intelligence techniques have a lot of applications for load forecasting [62].

4.2.6 Stability control

This chapter's goal is to showcase the key artificial intelligence (AI) technologies that are employed in the power system to handle operational and dispatching tasks when conventional approaches fall short. Additionally, a brief summary of each technology covered in the chapter along with its precise application of the power system is provided. Furthermore, by regulating voltage, stability, power flow, and load frequency, these techniques enhance the efficiency and productivity of the power system. Furthermore, it permits network management of features like size, location, and management of equipment and devices. The automation of the power system ensures that network administration, security, and problem diagnosis are all possible. The ideal artificial intelligence strategy has to be discovered in order to use artificial intelligence for planning, monitoring, and control of the power system. The chapter also briefly discusses the use of artificial intelligence to the sustainable components of the power system. Furthermore, it emphasizes the four main artificial approaches, including neural networks, fuzzy logic, expert systems, and genetic algorithms. Each method aids in resolving problems with the power system. The article focuses on installation stability analysis and management via intelligence system, which is more significant. Sustainable energy practitioners must focus on the cautious operation of power channeling systems. communications. The authenticity and timely grading of any disruptions therefore prevents the handling of a later developed substituted system. Thus, this study addresses the challenges of selecting installation stabilizing structures and gives some rule solutions by examining reference works related to installation stability analysis and management.

[37]

In conclusion, the main feature of power system design and planning is reliability, which was conventionally evaluated using deterministic methods. Moreover, conventional techniques don't fulfill the probabilistic essence of power systems. This leads to increase in operating and maintenance costs. Plenty of research is performed to utilize the current interest artificial intelligence for power system applications. A lot of research is yet to be performed to perceive full advantages of this upcoming technology for improving the efficiency of electricity market investment [63].

4.2.7 Energy Management

To attain energy management for hybrid renewable energy-based multi-area power systems, the distributed controllable loads are used. The distributed controllable loads are hinted as better alternative instead of costly energy storage systems. The need for an artificial intelligence-based nonlinear energy management becomes mandatory due to nonlinearity, high variability and uncertain nature of hybrid renewable energy-based multi area power systems based on distributed controllable loads. This paper hints a hybrid control strategy based on fuzzy reasoning and nonlinear sliding mode control to manage the energy of distributed controllable loads in a smart grid such as rooftop solar photovoltaic units and wind generating units. The identified hybrid control strategy fuses the unique features of both fuzzy logic and nonlinear sliding mode to handle the system nonlinearities and to standardize the humid characteristics of the system response against the uncertainties of the boundaries, as well as the high variability of renewable energy resources. Also, the acquisition of proposed fuzzy logic and nonlinear sliding mode controller is regulated by the imperialist rival probabilistic that is considered a powerful artificial intelligent procedure. This paper emphasizes that the energy management of the controllable loads is evolved based on a fuzzy sliding mode control strategy to maintain the output recurrence within the agreeable limits. The recommended procedure is applied in a multiarea smart grid, including renewable energy rather than the traditional. The addition of the hinted hybrid fuzzy logic and nonlinear sliding mode controller is honeyed by a new intelligent technique based on intelligent competitive rather than the trial and error conventional

procedure. Also, the hinted control procedure can ensure system stability under the uncertainty of the boundaries [64].

5. OUTLOOK FOR AI IN POWER SYSTEMS

Al is becoming more prevalent in research for power systems. However, there is still potential for future research and improvements to current research. This chapter explores the outlook for Al in power systems and the current concerns for the practical applications of Al. These issues will be addressed in future research studies based on Al applications over the past few years.

5.1. Explainability of AI

As AI becomes increasingly implemented in real-world systems, there are concerns about how AI systems can be simplified and explained. This is particularly challenging for closed-loop control systems in which the system makes control decisions and actions instead of an operator. The majority of AI approaches have a black-box structure where the operator can't check if the system is taking actions as intended in each type of possible situation. [65] suggests reviewing the type of models learned by the AI to better understand its behavior in the system. [66] suggests that the operator should focus on explaining individual predictions of behavior. Several studies investigate the explanation of AI for power systems, which offers tremendous potential for future research.

5.2 Database

The database used by AI is crucial for the effectiveness of AI applications. This is particularly true for complex power systems, in which AI must rely on a larger database set to sort and test different types of algorithms and models. [67] offer open-source data collection models, but one of their challenges is that they lack general application to different types of systems and approaches. Another challenge is that there are privacy regulations that limit access to data that can be used to improve AI models and systems. This makes it challenging to gain access to central data collection and integrate this data into individual loads. In cases where date is protected, AI must rely on suboptimal datasets that limit the development of AIdriven models and systems.

5.3. Reducing Computational Loads

Although computational power has experienced a significant increase over the last 10 years, one of the limitations of AI systems is that they take a lot of time to acquire complex behaviors. This results in limiting the application of real-time behavior and tasks. This is particularly prevalent in cases where the AI system must perform learning processes online. For example, in cases where Deep Neural Networks carry out online adaptations. This is also a crucial step for metaheuristic approaches that are applied to optimization tasks that use a lengthy trial-and-error process for convergence. However, AI systems require the ability to adapt online because power systems have long time changes, primarily to the aging components of the system. Based on these challenges, there are three aspects that future power systems should consider. The first is to enhance the AI system's explainability so that systems can be traced and applied to plausible solutions. Second, is to create robust AI systems so that all components of

the system are safe and secure for system operations. Another important aspect is to ensure that comprehensive datasets are used to train and test AI models. A third objective is to reduce computational demand to improve real-world application and an ability to adapt to online environments [68].

5.4. Sector Coupling

In the last decade, there has been a source in research devoted to the coupling of energy sectors to achieve carbon neutrality. Integrated energy systems (IES), which link the electricity, heat, and gas industries, are seen as the benchmark for future energy systems that utilize a high percentage of renewable energies. IES also links the electricity industry to the heat and gas industries. Electricity, heat, and gas can be dynamically connected using two essential coupling technologies, power-to-gas, and power-to-heat. Despite this, the general stability of the system may be put at risk due to these interactions. As a potential methodology for conducting research, one option presented is to take the approach of combining grid reduction, steady state, and dynamic inquiry.

[69] Also, In recent years, multi-carrier micro grids, also known as MCMGs, have been increasingly popular because they can offer practical solutions that improve the operation and construction of power grids. The owners of MCMG have been searching for viable solutions to the problems that are now hurting the energy markets worldwide on the company's behalf. This study investigates how effective the Transactive Energy Management (TEM) mechanism, which is a unique method of energy sharing, could be in assisting in reducing the operational expenses incurred by each MCMG in energy markets characterized by intense competition. [70] However,

That researches demonstrate how energy quarters are used to provide energy coupling for buildings or entire neighborhoods on a distribution grid.

The urban energy network at the neighborhood level has the potential to offer more costeffective and sustainable services to a large number of buildings through the integration of separate energy systems. It may not always be possible to guarantee the benefit of individual buildings within the network to achieve the highest potential network performance. There has not been much thought into whether energy networks' benefit allocation is fair. This work aims to provide unique cost and emission benefit distribution limitations based on cooperative game theory so that all participating buildings can reap the full benefits. The results show that the solution space is slightly reduced when benefit allocation is considered compared to when it is not.

[71] Because of the expansion of intermittent renewable energy sources, the power grid is finding it increasingly difficult to strike a balance between supply and demand. It is anticipated that buildings will play a more significant role in the future of the smart grid due to enhanced grid connections and increased end-use loads. Buildings may be able to make more efficient use of passive thermal mass, which functions as a versatile source of thermal energy if predictive control is used. [72] These examples demonstrate several ways in which AI can be used to incorporate control concepts to improve these algorithm.

5.5. Ancillary Services

Providing ancillary services is a popular research topic due to the volatility surrounding the generation of renewable energy. [73] demonstrates that EVs can be used as flexible loads can be used alongside DER for advanced loading. However, [74] reveals that one of the challenges of utilizing EVs to provide ancillary services is that the infrastructure is lacking. The rising use of asynchronous generation leads to concerns about system inertia because synchronous generators don't provide system stability. [75] raises several concerns about the behavior of low inertia systems and how AI techniques can be applied to improve these systems.

6. CONCLUSION

This project demonstrates the ways that AI is being integrated into the operations of distribution power systems. Some of the promising applications of AI include metaheuristics methods, machine learning, and rule-based systems to improve system efficiency. This survey classified the applications of AI into closed-loop and decision-support control systems. This literature review provides the guidelines for choosing the best algorithm for AI applications in distribution power systems. The four key metrics that are adaptability, dynamics, runtime, and the significance of database requirements. Each of these four metrics quantitatively evaluated for each AI application. Using these metrics, each of the AI techniques are rated based on their suitability for each application to distribution power systems.

REFERENCES

[1] S. Zhao, F. Blaabjerg, and H. Wang, "An overview of artificial intelligence applications for power electronics," IEEE Trans. Power Electron., vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 4633–4658, Apr. 2021

[2] A. Monti, F. Ponci, A. Benigni, and J. Liu, "Distributed intelligence for smart grid control," in Proc. Int.
 School Nonsinusoidal Currents Compensation (ISNCC), Jun. 2010, pp. 46–58

[3] O. A. Omitaomu and H. Niu, "Artificial intelligence techniques in smart grid: A survey," Smart Cities, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 548–568, Apr. 2021.

[4] D. Cao, W. Hu, J. Zhao, G. Zhang, B. Zhang, Z. Liu, Z. Chen, and F. Blaabjerg, "Reinforcement learning and its applications in modern power and energy systems: A review," J. Mod. Power Syst. Clean Energy, vol. 8, no. 6, pp. 1029–1042, 2020.

[5] M. Glavic, R. Fonteneau, and D. Ernst, "Reinforcement learning for electric power system decision and control: Past considerations and perspectives," IFAC-PapersOnLine, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 6918–6927, Jul. 2017.

[6] H. Sun, Q. Guo, J. Qi, V. Ajjarapu, R. Bravo, J. Chow, Z. Li, R. Moghe, E. Nasr-Azadani, U. Tamrakar, G. N. Taranto, R. Tonkoski, G. Valverde, Q. Wu, and G. Yang, "Review of challenges and research opportunities for voltage control in smart grids," IEEE Trans. Power Syst., vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 2790–2801, Jul. 2019.

[7] H. H. Alhelou, M. E. Hamedani-Golshan, R. Zamani, E. Heydarian-Forushani, and P. Siano, "Challenges and opportunities of load frequency control in conventional, modern and future smart power systems: A comprehensive review," Energies, vol. 11, no. 10, p. 2497, 2018.

[45]

[8] C. Darab, R. Tarnovan, A. Turcu, and C. Martineac, "Artificial intelligence techniques for fault location and detection in distributed generation power systems," in Proc. 8th Int. Conf. Mod. Power Syst. (MPS), May 2019, pp. 2019–2022.

[9] E. Chai, P. Zeng, S. Ma, H. Xing, and B. Zhao, "Artificial intelligence approaches to fault diagnosis in power grids: A review," in Proc. Chin. Control Conf. (CCC), Jul. 2019, pp. 7346–7353.

[10] H. Cai and X. Lu, "A survey of artificial intelligence algorithm in power system applications," in Proc.IEEE 3rd Int. Elect. Energy Conf. (CIEEC), Sep. 2019, pp. 1902–1906.

[11] A. Hodges, "Alan Turing and the Turing test," in Parsing the Turing Test, R. Epstein, G. Roberts, andG. Beber, Eds. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer, 2007.

[12] P. Wang, "On defining artificial intelligence," J. Artif. Gen. Intell., vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 1–37, Jan. 2019.

[13] D. P. Kingma and J. L. Ba, "Adam: A method for stochastic optimization," in Proc. 3rd Int. Conf.Learn. Represent. (ICLR), 2015, pp. 1–15.

[14] B. Kiran, D. Thomas, and R. Parakkal, "An overview of deep learning based methods for unsupervised and semi-supervised anomaly detection in videos," J. Imag., vol. 4, no. 2, p. 36, Feb. 2018.

[15] K. Arulkumaran, M. P. Deisenroth, M. Brundage, and A. A. Bharath, "Deep reinforcement learning:A brief survey," IEEE Signal Process. Mag., vol. 34, no. 6, pp. 26–38, Nov. 2017.

[16] L. Abualigah and A. Diabat, "Advances in sine cosine algorithm: A comprehensive survey," Artif.Intell. Rev., vol. 54, pp. 2567–2608, Jan. 2021.

[17] S. S. Mohar, S. Goyal, and R. Kaur, "Fruit fly optimization algorithm for intelligent IoT applications," in Fog, Edge, and Pervasive Computing in Intelligent IoT Driven Applications, D. Gupta and A. Khamparia, Eds. IEEE, 2020.

[18] S. Katoch, S. S. Chauhan, and V. Kumar, "A review on genetic algorithm: Past, present, and future," Multimedia Tools Appl., vol. 80, pp. 8091–8126, Oct. 2020.

[19] V. Yadav, A. K. Yadav, M. Kaur, and D. Singh, "Trigonometric mutation and successful-parentselection based adaptive asynchronous differential evolution," J. Ambient Intell. Humanized Comput., Jul. 2021.

[20] J. K. Pattanaik, M. Basu, and D. P. Dash, "Optimal power flow with FACTS devices using artificial immune systems," in Proc. Int. Conf. Technol. Adv. Power Energy (TAP Energy), 2017, pp. 1–6.

[21] R. Toorajipour, V. Sohrabpour, A. Nazarpour, P. Oghazi, and M. Fischl, "Artificial intelligence in supply chain management: A systematic literature review," J. Bus. Res., vol. 122, pp. 502–517, Jan. 2021.

[22] E. K. Burke and G. Kendall, Search Methodologies: Introductory Tutorials in Optimization and Decision Support Techniques. Boston, MA, USA: Springer, 2014.

[23] K. R. Chowdhary, Fundamentals of Artificial Intelligence. New Delhi, India: Springer, 2020.

[24] L. Caponetti and G. Castellano, Fuzzy Logic for Image Processing a Gentle Introduction Using Java. Cham, Switzerland: Springer, 2017.

[25] I. Srivastava, S. Bhat, V. S. G. Thadikemalla, and A. R. Singh, "A hybrid machine learning and metaheuristic algorithm based service restoration scheme for radial power distribution system," Int. Trans. Electr. Energy Syst., vol. 31, pp. 1–25, Sep. 2021. [26] S. Möws, V. Scheffer, and C. Becker, "Probabilistic power forecast of renewable distributed generation for provision of control reserve using vine copulas," IET Gener., Transmiss. Distrib., vol. 14, no. 25, pp. 6312–6318, Dec. 2020.

[27] N. Hatziargyriou, J. Milanvic, C. Rahmann, V. Ajjarapu, C. Canizares, I. Erlich, D. Hill, I. Hiskens, I.
Kamwa, B. Pal, P. Pourbeik, J. Sanchez-Gasca, A. Stankovic, T. Van Cutsem, V. Vittal, and C. Vournas,
"Definition and classification of power system stability—Revisited & extended," IEEE Trans. Power Syst.,
vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 3271–3281, Jul. 2021.

[28] F. Tao, H. Zhang, A. Liu, and A. Y. C. Nee, "Digital twin in industry: State-of-the-art," IEEE Trans. Ind. Informat., vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 2405–2415, Apr. 2019.

[29] C. Brosinsky, D. Westermann, and R. Krebs, "System control centers," in Proc. IEEE Int. Energy Conf. (ENERGYCON), Jun. 2018, pp. 1–6.

[30] M. Zhou, J. Yan, and D. Feng, "Digital twin and its application to power grid online analysis," CSEE J. Power Energy Syst., vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 391–398, 2019.

[31] X. He, Q. Ai, R. C. Qiu, and D. Zhang, "Preliminary exploration on digital twin for power systems: Challenges, framework, and applications," 2019, pp. 1–8, arXiv:1909.06977

[32] M. Jereminov, A. Pandey, H. A. Song, B. Hooi, C. Faloutsos, and L. Pileggi, "Linear load model for robust power system analysis," in Proc. IEEE PES Innov. Smart Grid Technol. Conf. Eur. (ISGT-Eur.), no. 1, Sep. 2017, pp. 1–6.

[33] X. Wang, Y. Wang, D. Shi, J. Wang, and Z. Wang, "Two-stage WECC composite load modeling: A double deep Q-learning networks approach," 2019, pp. 4331–4344, vol. 11, no. 5, arXiv:1911.04894.

[34] M. Cui, M. Khodayar, C. Chen, X. Wang, Y. Zhang, and M. Khodayar, "Deep learning-based timevarying parameter identification for systemwide load modeling," IEEE Trans. Smart Grid, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 6102–6114, 2019.

[35] P. T. Baboli, D. Babazadeh, and D. R. K. Bowatte, "Measurement-based modeling of smart grid dynamics: A digital twin approach," in Proc. 10th Smart Grid Conf. (SGC), Dec. 2020, pp. 6–11.

[36] L. Chao, Z. Lei, and L. Yuhang, "Topology checking method for low voltage distribution network based on fuzzy C-means clustering algorithm," in Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Artif. Intell. Comput. Appl. (ICAICA), Jun. 2020, pp. 1077–1080.

[37] L. Wang, Q. Zhou, and S. Jin, "Physics-guided deep learning for power system state estimation," J. Mod. Power Syst. Clean Energy, vol. 8, no. 4, pp. 607–615, 2020.

[38] A. S. Zamzam and N. D. Sidiropoulos, "Physics-aware neural networks for distribution system state estimation," IEEE Trans. Power Syst., vol. 35, no. 6, pp. 4347–4356, Nov. 2020.

[39] K. R. Mestav, J. Luengo-Rozas, and L. Tong, "Bayesian state estimation for unobservable distribution systems via deep learning," IEEE Trans. Power Syst., vol. 34, no. 6, pp. 4910–4920, Nov. 2019.

[40] L. Zhang, G. Wang, and G. B. Giannakis, "Real-time power system state estimation and forecasting via deep neural networks," 2018, pp. 4069–4077, vol. 67, no. 15, arXiv:1811.06146.

[41] O. A. Alimi, K. Ouahada, and A. M. Abu-Mahfouz, "A review of machine learning approaches to power system security and stability," IEEE Access, vol. 8, pp. 113512–113531, 2020.

[42] S. Möws, V. Scheffer, and C. Becker, "Probabilistic power forecast of renewable distributed generation for provision of control reserve using vine copulas," IET Gener., Transmiss. Distrib., vol. 14, no. 25, pp. 6312–6318, Dec. 2020.

[43] Y. Zhang, Y. Xu, Z. Y. Dong, and R. Zhang, "A hierarchical self-adaptive data-analytics method for real-time power system short-term voltage stability assessment," IEEE Trans. Ind. Informat., vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 74–84, Jan. 2019.

[44] C. Eiras-Franco, B. Guijarro-Berdiñas, A. Alonso-Betanzos, and A. Bahamonde, "Scalable feature selection using ReliefF aided by locality-sensitive hashin," Int. J. Intell. Syst., vol. 36, no. 11, pp. 1–19, 2021.

[45] Y. Xu, R. Zhang, J. Zhao, Z. Y. Dong, D. Wang, H. Yang, and K. P. Wong, "Assessing short-term voltage stability of electric power systems by a hierarchical intelligent system," IEEE Trans. Neural Netw. Learn. Syst., vol. 27, no. 8, pp. 1686–1696, Aug. 2016.

[46] H. Mohammadi, G. Khademi, M. Dehghani, and D. Simon, "Voltage stability assessment using multiobjective biogeography-based subset selection," Int. J. Electr. Power Energy Syst., vol. 103, pp. 525–536, Dec. 2018.

[47] B. Tan, J. Yang, X. Pan, J. Li, P. Xie, and C. Zeng, "Representational learning approach for power system transient stability assessment based on convolutional neural network," J. Eng., vol. 2017, no. 13, pp. 1847–1850, Jan. 2017

[48] K. Chen, "Indirect PCA dimensionality reduction based machine learning algorithms for power system transient stability assessment," in Proc. IEEE Innov. Smart Grid Technol.-Asia (ISGT Asia), May 2019, pp. 4175–4179.

[49] N. Markushevich, M. Lachman, and F. Cleveland. (2010). Distribution Grid Management (Advanced Distribution Automation) Functions. [Online]. Available: https://smartgrid.epri.com/UseCases/
 Distribution_Grid_ManagementSG_UC_nm3.pdf

[50] A. Mahor, V. Prasad, and S. Rangnekar, "Economic dispatch using particle swarm optimization: A review," Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev., vol. 13, no. 8, pp. 2134–2141, Oct. 2009.

[51] A. A. Ba-Muqabel and M. A. Abido, "Review of conventional power system stabilizer design methods," in Proc. IEEE GCC Conf. (GCC), Mar. 2006, pp. 1–7.

[52] A. Sabo, N. I. A. Wahab, M. L. Othman, M. Z. A. M. Jaffar, H. Acikgoz, and H. Beiranvand,
"Application of neuro-fuzzy controller to replace smib and interconnected multi-machine power system stabilizers," Sustainability, vol. 12, no. 22, pp. 1–42, 2020.

[53] H. Peng, J. Wang, J. Ming, P. Shi, M. J. Perez-Jimenez, W. Yu, and C. Tao, "Fault diagnosis of power systems using intuitionistic fuzzy spiking neural P systems," IEEE Trans. Smart Grid, vol. 9, no. 5, pp. 4777–4784, Sep. 2018.

[54] T. N. Le, N. Au Nguyen, and H. A. Quyen, "Emergency control of load shedding based on coordination of artificial neural network and analytic hierarchy process algorithm," in Proc. Int. Conf. Syst. Sci. Eng. (ICSSE), Jul. 2017, pp. 57–60.

[55] R. Małkowski and J. Nieznański, "Underfrequency load shedding: An innovative algorithm based on fuzzy logic," Energies, vol. 13, no. 6, p. 1456, Mar. 2020.

[56] J. Xu, M. Li, Q. Chen, and M. Wu, "Evaluation method of DG black start of distribution network," in Proc. 5th Asia Conf. Power Electr. Eng. (ACPEE), Jun. 2020, pp. 2141–2147.

[57] J. Zhao, Q. Zhang, Z. Liu, and X. Wu, "A distributed black-start optimization method for global transmission and distribution network," IEEE Trans. Power Syst., vol. 36, no. 5, pp. 4471–4481, Sep. 2021.

[58] L. Sun, X. Wang, W. Liu, Z. Lin, F. Wen, S. P. Ang, and M. A. Salam, "Optimisation model for power system restoration with support from electric vehicles employing battery swapping," IET Gener., Transmiss. Distrib., vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 771–779, Feb. 2016.

[59] A. Di Giorgio, A. Giuseppi, F. Liberati, and A. Pietrabissa, "Controlled electricity distribution network black start with energy storage system support," in Proc. 25th Medit. Conf. Control Automat. (MED), Jul. 2017, pp. 781–786.

[60] X. Zhou, H. Wang, Y. Ma, and Z. Gao, "Research on power system restoration based on multi-agent systems," in Proc. Chin. Control Decis. Conf. (CCDC), Jun. 2018, pp. 4955–4960

[61] N. Hatziargyriou, J. Milanvic, C. Rahmann, V. Ajjarapu, C. Canizares, I. Erlich, D. Hill, I. Hiskens, I.
Kamwa, B. Pal, P. Pourbeik, J. Sanchez-Gasca, A. Stankovic, T. Van Cutsem, V. Vittal, and C. Vournas,
"Definition and classification of power system stability—Revisited & extended," IEEE Trans. Power Syst.,
vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 3271–3281, Jul. 2021.

[62] Pu Wang & Bidong Liu & Tao Hong, "Artificial Intelligence for Load Forecasting." Volume 32, Issue3, July–September 2016, Pages 585-597

[63] Power System Stabilization Based on Artificial Intelligent Techniques; A review. Published 1December 2009.

[64] M. Elsisi and N. Bazmohammadi. Energy management of controllable loads in multi-area power systems with wind power penetration based on new supervisor fuzzy nonlinear sliding mode control. Jan 2021.

[65] A. Mahendran and A. Vedaldi, "Visualizing deep convolutional neural networks using natural preimages," Int. J. Comput. Vis., vol. 120, no. 3, pp. 233–255, 2016.

[52]

[66] W. Samek, T. Wiegand, and K. R. Müller, "Explainable artificial intelligence: Understanding, visualizing and interpreting deep learning models," 2017, arXiv:1708.08296

[67] S. Meinecke, D. Sarajlić, S. R. Drauz, A. Klettke, L.-P. Lauven, C. Rehtanz, A. Moser, and M. Braun, "SimBench—A benchmark dataset of electric power systems to compare innovative solutions based on power flow analysis," Energies, vol. 13, no. 12, p. 3290, Jun. 2020.

[68] S. Stock, D. Babazadeh, C. Becker, "Applications of Artificial Intelligence in Distribution Power System Operation. Institute of Electrical Power and Energy Technology, Hamburg University of Technology, 21079 Hamburg, Germany. November 11, 2021.

[69] C. Heckel and J.-P. Becker, "Investigation of the voltage stability in the integrated energy system of northern Germany," in Proc. Conf. Sustain. Energy Supply Energy Storage Syst. (NEIS), Hamburg, Germany, Sep. 2020, pp. 1–6. [Online]. Available: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/9273415

[70] M. Z. Oskouei, P. T. Baboli, and D. Babazadeh, "Robust stochastic optimization for energy sharing between multi-carrier microgrids using transactive energy management system," in Proc. ETG Congr., 2021, pp. 1–6.

[71] R. Jing, M. Wang, H. Liang, X. Wang, N. Li, N. Shah, and Y. Zhao, "Multi-objective optimization of a neighborhood-level urban energy network: Considering game-theory inspired multi-benefit allocation constraints," Appl. Energy, vol. 231, pp. 534–548, May 2018

[72] A. Kathirgamanathan, M. De Rosa, E. Mangina, and D. P. Finn, "Data-driven predictive control for unlocking building energy flexibility: A review," Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev., vol. 135, Jan. 2021, Art. no. 110120 [73] I. Ranaweera and O.-M. Midtgård, "Optimization of operational cost for a grid-supporting PV system with battery storage," Renew. Energy, vol. 88, pp. 262–272, Apr. 2016.

[74] A. Aldik, A. T. Al-Awami, E. Sortomme, A. M. Muqbel, and M. Shahidehpour, "A planning model for electric vehicle aggregators providing ancillary services," IEEE Access, vol. 6, pp. 70685–70697, 2018.] F.
[75] Milan, F. Dorfler, G. Hug, D. J. Hill, and G. Verbic, "Foundations and challenges of low-inertia systems (invited paper)," in Proc. Power Syst. Comput. Conf. (PSCC), Jun. 2018, pp. 1–25.